1661
[2015] 1 WLR Braganza v BP Shipping Ltd (SC(E))

Supreme Court

*Braganza v BP Shipping Ltd and another

[2015] UKSC 17
2014 Nov 105 Lord Neuberger of Abbotsbury PSC, Baroness Hale of
2015 March 18 Richmond DPSC, Lord Kerr of Tonaghmore,

Lord Wilson, Lord Hodge JJSC

Employment — Contract of employment — Death in service benefit — Benefit
excluded where in employer’s opinion death resulting from deceased’s wilful act
— Employee’s death either accident or suicide — Employer’s investigation team
concluding suicide most likely cause — Duty on employer in forming opinion —
Whether required to take into account all relevant matters — Whether
employer’s finding of suicide sustainable

The claimant’s husband was serving as chief engineer on board the first
defendant’s vessel, having been so engaged by the second defendant, under a contract
of employment that provided for a death in service benefit save where his death had
resulted from his own wilful act. When working on the vessel in mid-Atlantic, he
disappeared overnight and, after a search, was declared to be lost overboard,
presumed drowned. The second defendant set up its own investigation team, which
discounted foul play. Having seen e-mail messages between the deceased and his wife
which suggested that he had been troubled by financial and other worries, and being
of the opinion that there had been no good reason for him to have gone on deck at
night, albeit without ruling out such possibility, the team reported that the most
likely explanation for his disappearance was that he had committed suicide, rather
than accidentally falling overboard. On the basis of that report the second
defendant’s general manager decided for the purposes of the death in service benefit
clause that the deceased had committed suicide and that no benefit was payable to the
claimant, who thereupon brought proceedings in the High Court secking, inter alia,
recovery of such benefit. The judge held that the decision to refuse the payment of
benefit on the ground of suicide was unreasonable because, first, the investigation
team had failed to take into account that there was a real possibility that the
deceased, who had demonstrated an interest in the weather shortly before his
disappearance because of his responsibility for weather-sensitive work planned for
the ship on the following day, might have gone on deck in order to check the sea
conditions and fallen overboard, and, secondly, because the general manger had
failed to direct himself that before the making of a finding of suicide there should be
cogent evidence commensurate with the seriousness of such a finding. Allowing an
appeal by the defendants, the Court of Appeal reversed the judge’s finding as to the
team failing to take account of the possibility of the deceased having gone on deck for
a work-related reason, and held that the general manager, as a lay person, ought not
to have been expected to direct himself in the terms stated by the judge.

On the claimant’s appeal—

Held, (1) that, where contractual terms gave one party to a contract the power to
exercise a discretion or form an opinion as to relevant facts, it was not for the court to
make that decision for them, but where the decision would affect the rights and
obligations of both parties there was a conflict of interest and the court would seek to
ensure that the power was not abused by implying a term in appropriate cases that
the power should be exercised not only in good faith but also without being arbitrary,
capricious or irrational in the sense in which that term was used when reviewing the
decisions of public authorities; and that it followed that such a decision could be
impugned, not only where it was one that no reasonable decision-maker could have
reached, but also where the decision-making process had failed to exclude extraneous
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considerations or to take account of all obviously relevant ones (post, paras 18, 19,
24, 29-30, 52-53, 102-103).

Dicta of Lord Greene MR in Associated Provincial Picture Houses Lid v
Wednesbury Corpn [1948] 1 KB 223, 233-234, CA, of Rix LJ in Socimer
International Bank Ltd v Standard Bank London Ltd [2008] Bus LR 1304, para 66,
CA and of Lord Sumption JSC in British Telecommunications plc v Telefénica O2
UK Ltd [2014] Bus LR 765, para 37, SC(E) and in Hayes v Willoughby [2013]
1 WLR 935, para 14, SC(E) applied.

(2) Allowing the appeal (Lord Neuberger of Abbotsbury PSC and Lord Wilson JSC
dissenting), that, applying that test, where the decision-maker was an employer it
would be expected to be aware of the correct approach to the making of any decisions
it was required or empowered to make under the terms of an employment contract;
that the correct approach to an investigation into cause of death for the purposes of a
death in service benefit claim was that suicide was such an inherently unlikely act that
a positive conclusion as to its occurrence could not be made without cogent evidence
to support it; that, on the evidence, the investigation team’s report and conclusion did
not amount to sufficiently cogent evidence to justify a conclusion by the general
manager that the deceased had committed suicide; and that, accordingly, the general
manager’s decision could not stand, and the claimant was entitled to the contractual
death in service benefit (post, paras 32, 36, 40, 42, 49-51, 54, §8-60, 62—63).

Decision of the Court of Appeal [2013] EWCA Civ 2305 [2013] 2 Lloyd’s Rep
351 reversed.

The following cases are referred to in the judgments:

Abu Dhabi National Tanker Co v Product Star Shipping Ltd (No 2) [1993] 1 Lloyd’s
Rep 397, CA

Associated Provincial Picture Houses Ltd v Wednesbury Corpn [1948] 1 KB 223;
[tr947] 2 Al ER 680, CA

B (Children) (Care Proceedings: Standard of Proof) (CAFCASS intervening), In re
[2008] UKHL 3 55 [2009] 1 AC 115 [2008] 3 WLR 15 [2008] 4 Al ER 1, HL(E)

Biogen Inc v Medeva plc [1997] RPC 1, HL(E)

British Telecommunications plc v Telefénica O2 UK Lid [2014] UKSC 42; [2014]
Bus LR 765;[2014] 4 AIl ER 907; [2014] 2 All ER (Comm) 877, SC(E)

CVG Siderurgicia del Orinoco SA v London Steamship Owners’ Mutual Insurance
Association Ltd (The Vainqueur José) [1979] 1 Lloyd’s Rep 557

Clark v Nomura International plc [2000] IRLR 766

Council of Civil Service Unions v Minister for the Civil Service [1985] ICR 14;[1985]
AC374;[1984] 3 WLR 1174;[1984] 3 AIlER 935, HL(E)

D (Secretary of State for Northern Ireland intervening), In re [2008] UKHL 33;
[2008] 1 WLR 1499; [2008] 4 All ER 992, HL(NI)

Gan Insurance Co Ltd v Tai Ping Insurance Co Ltd (No 2) [2001] EWCA Civ 1047;
[2001] 2 Al ER (Comm) 299, CA

H (Minors) (Sexual Abuse: Standard of Proof), In re [1996] AC 563; [1996] 2 WLR
8;[1996] 1 AIlER 1, HL(E)

Hayes v Willoughby [2013] UKSC 17; [2013] T WLR 935; [2013] 2 All ER 405;
[2013] 2 CrAppR 115,SC(E)

Horkulak v Cantor Fitzgerald International [2004] EWCA Civ 1287; [2005] ICR
402, CA

Johnson v Unisys Ltd [2001] UKHL 13; [2003] T AC 518; [2001] 2 WLR 1076;
[200T] ICR 480; [2001] 2 Al ER 8o1, HL(E)

Keen v Commerzbank AG [2006] EWCA Civ 1536; [2007] ICR 623, CA

Laker Airways Ltd v Department of Trade [1977] QB 643; [1977] 2 WLR 234;
[t977] 2 AIlER 182, CA

Ludgate Insurance Co Ltd v Citibank NA [1998] Lloyd’s Rep IR 221, CA

Paragon Finance plc v Nash [2001] EWCA Civ 1466; [2002] 1 WLR 685; [2002]
2 AIlER 248; [2001] 2 All ER (Comm) 1025, CA
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R v West London Coroner, Ex p Gray [1988] QB 467; [1987] 2 WLR 10205 [1987]
2 AllER 129, DC

Rhesa Shipping Co SA v Edmunds (The Popi M) [1985] 1 WLR 948; [1985] 2 All ER
7125 [1985] 2 Lloyd’s Rep 1, HL(E)

Socimer International Bank Ltd v Standard Bank London Ltd [2008] EWCA Civ
116; [2008] Bus LR 1304, CA

The following additional case was cited in argument:

Holmes-Moorbouse v Richmond upon Thames London Borough Council [2009]
UKHL 7; [2009] 1 WLR 413;[2009] PTSR 698;[2009] 3 All ER 277, HL(E)

APPEAL from the Court of Appeal

On 30 May 2012, on a claim by the claimant, Niloufer Braganza, widow
of Renford Braganza (“the deceased”), against the first defendant, BP
Shipping Ltd, and the second defendant, BP Maritime Services (Singapore)
Pte Ltd, (1) under the Fatal Accidents Act 1976, alleging that the deceased’s
death after being lost overboard when on the deck of the first defendant’s
ship MV British Unity while employed by the second defendant as the
vessel’s chief engineer, had been caused by the defendants’ negligence, and
(2) for a death in service benefit under the terms of the deceased’s contract of
employment (the second defendant’s general manager having decided, after
receipt of a report from the second defendant’s investigation team, that the
deceased had committed suicide by throwing himself overboard, with the
consequence that payment of death in service benefit was excluded under
the terms of his contract of employment) Teare | [2012] EWHC 1423
(Comm); [2012] ICR D39 held that the claimant was unable to establish
negligence and dismissed the Fatal Accidents Act claim, but upheld the
contractual claim for a death in service benefit. On 22 March 2013, the
Court of Appeal (Longmore, Rimer and Tomlinson LJJ) [2013] ICR D18;
[2013] 2 Lloyd’s Rep 351 allowed the defendants’ appeal against the judge’s
order on the contractual claim. On 2 December 2013 the Supreme Court
(Lord Neuberger of Abbotsbury PSC, Lord Clarke of Stone-sum-Ebony and
Lord Hodge JJSC) gave the claimant permission to appeal.

The issues for the court, as stated in the parties’ statement of facts and
issues, were: (1) (As stated by the claimant) (i) whether the judge had been
right to decide that, in order to discharge the burden of proving that the
manager’s opinion was reasonable, the defendants had to prove that the
opinion was formed in a reasonable manner, namely by taking into account
all relevant matters, by not taking into account irrelevant matters and by
acting rationally; (ii) whether the judge had erred in finding that the team
and hence the manager failed to take into account a relevant matter, namely
the real possibility that the deceased had gone onto the deck on the day in
question to check the weather, with the consequence that the manager’s
opinion was not reasonable in the required sense; (iii) whether the judge had
decided that the manager was required not to form the opinion that the
deceased had committed suicide without directing himself of the need for
cogent evidence as a matter of law, or as a matter of fairness; and (iv) in light
of the judge’s findings of fact as to the flawed nature of four out of the six
“bullet points” listed in the team’s report in support of the conclusion that
suicide was a possibility, whether he should have held that the team’s
decision-making process, and the opinion of the manager which relied on it,
was unreasonable on that additional ground. (2) (As stated by the
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defendants) (i), where a contractual provision was dependent on the opinion
formed by one party to the contract, what qualification was to be implied as
to the formation of that opinion; (i) whether any such qualification vitiated
the opinion formed in the present case; (iii) whether any direction of law as
to the standard of proof was required where such an opinion was being
formed, and if so what direction was required; (iv) whether any absence of a
direction of law vitiated the opinion formed in the present case; and
(v) where suicide and accident were the only two realistic alternatives and
accident was considered to be extremely unlikely, whether it was reasonable
to conclude that it was suicide on the balance of probabilities.

The facts are stated in the judgments of Baroness Hale of Richmond
DPSC (post, paras 3—-11) and Lord Neuberger of Abbotsbury PSC (post,
paras 66—86).

Belinda Bucknall QC (instructed by Duval Vassiliades) for the claimant.
Grahame Aldous QC and Christopher Wilson (instructed by Hill
Dickinson LLP) for the defendants.

The court took time for consideration.
18 March 2015. The following judgments were handed down.

BARONESS HALE OF RICHMOND DPSC (with whom LORD KERR OF
TONAGHMORE JSC agreed)

1 Between o1.00 and 07.00 on 11 May 2009, Mr Renford Braganza,
chief engineer on BP’s oil tanker British Unity, then in the mid-North
Atlantic, disappeared. No-one knows for certain what happened to him.
But his employer formed the opinion that the most likely explanation for his
disappearance was that he had committed suicide by throwing himself
overboard. This would mean that his widow was not entitled to the death
benefits provided for in his contract of employment. Clause 7.6.3 of that
contract provided relevantly as follows:

“For the avoidance of doubt compensation for death, accidental injury
or illness shall not be payable if, in the opinion of the company or its
insurers, the death, accidental injury or illness resulted from amongst
other things, the officer’s wilful act, default or misconduct whether at sea
or ashore . . .” (Emphasis supplied.)

2 It is not the task of this or any other court determining a claim under
such a contract to decide what actually happened to Mr Braganza. The task
of the court is to decide whether his employer was entitled to form the
opinion which it did. The issue of general principle in this appeal, therefore,
is the test to be applied by the court in deciding that question.

The facts

3 Mr Braganza was an able and well qualified chief engineer. Like all
the crew of MV British Unity, he was an Indian national. He was a Roman
Catholic and married with two children. In July 2008, the family had moved
from India to Toronto in Canada and he had taken extended leave for this
purpose. After returning to work with BP, he joined British Unity in
Gibraltar in February 2009. The vessel’s main engine had broken down in
August 2008 and been repaired but the damaged cylinder liners had not been
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replaced. This major work was done in April 2009 in Ferrol, Spain. Shortly
after leaving Ferrol, the cooling water jacket of one of the cylinders began to
leak. The vessel then proceeded via Falmouth to Brofjorden in Sweden,
where a cargo of unleaded gasoline was loaded and also two spare cooling
water jackets, which were stored in an alleyway on the main deck, close to a
hatch providing access to the engine room below.

4 After sailing from Brofjorden, Mr Braganza received an e-mail on
5 May 2009 from an engineering superintendent asking him to carry out a
scavenge inspection/ring inspection of the engine in about six days’ time and
suggesting that it would be prudent to replace the cooling water jacket at the
same time as the engine was stopped for that purpose. Mr Braganza replied
that he would do the inspection in about six days’ time and try to carry out
the jacket replacement at the earliest opportunity. To do this, it would first
be necessary to lower the cooling water jacket through the hatch into the
engine room below. Ms Belinda Bucknall QC, for Mrs Braganza, stresses
the “highly weather-sensitive nature” of the cooling water jacket exchange.
(Indeed, Mr Williamson, the engineering superintendent who had supervised
the major works in Ferrol had intended to telephone Mr Braganza on the
morning of 11 May to suggest that he think about the operation “because
obviously the lifting of a one and half tonne cylinder head in any sort of swell
would be risky”.) The main engine would have to be shut down for several
hours, leaving the vessel at the mercy of wind and wave.

5 The vessel was originally bound for Jebel Ali in the United Arab
Emirates, but on 7 May, while in the middle of the Bay of Biscay, it was
ordered to proceed to New York instead. It therefore altered course and
headed across the Atlantic. On 9 May, the weather worsened during the day
and the log recorded at 20.00 a rough sea and high swell and shipping water
on deck. On 1o May the weather began to improve. At 19.00, the master,
the chief officer, Mr Braganza and the second engineer met to discuss the
plans for the next day. These included “lowering liner jacket to engine room
from main deck” and “M/E scavenge inspection and liner jacket renewal”. It
was agreed that the master and chief officer would check the weather in the
morning.

6 At about 23.30 that same night, the master and Mr Braganza met for
about an hour. They discussed the weather conditions for the next day, with
the assistance of a weather routing report which the master had sent to
Mr Braganza’s computer. During the meeting, Mr Braganza e-mailed an
engineering superintendent to report that he intended to stop the main
engines the next day and do a scavenge inspection and that, weather
permitting, he would like to change the liner jacket at the same time. He was
advised to go ahead “if weather and schedule permits”. The master left
Mr Braganza’s cabin at about 0o.30 on 11 May. That was the last anyone
saw of the chief engineer. At o1.00 he sent a routine e-mail to the second
engineer. At o7.00 it was noticed that his cabin door was open, as it
habitually was unless he was sleeping. His bed looked as if it had been slept
in. He did not breakfast as usual in the officers” mess.

7 The chief officer carried out a risk assessment around o08.00 and the
master agreed that the job could be carried out. The judge concluded that it
was unlikely that there was no pitching or rolling but that it was not such as
to make the planned operations unsafe. Lowering the cooling water jackets
into the engine room began shortly after 08.00 and was safely completed by
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about 09.30. Mr Braganza was not there. Soon afterwards, the master
announced that he was missing. A search was made on board but he was not
found. The vessel was turned around and a search and rescue operation
conducted but he was not found. The cooling water jacket replacement was
postponed until some days later.

8 On arrival in New York, an investigation was carried out on behalf of
the Isle of Man where British Unity was registered. The ship’s crew were
interviewed under caution. Its conclusion was that Mr Braganza was lost
overboard, presumed drowned, but no finding was made as to the reason for
this. BP then set up its own inquiry, in accordance with its own procedures,
to “investigate the relevant circumstances leading up to the loss of
Mr Braganza, identify if possible the root causes of the incident and identify
any changes required to the BP Shipping safety management system”. The
five person team took about four months to make their extensive inquiries.
Their eventual report was dated 17 September 2009. It considered five
“possible scenarios”. The team were able to discount three explanations—
hiding or being hidden on board, collection by another vessel and fall from
vessel due to horseplay, altercation or foul play. That left an accidental fall
from the vessel, which could not be discounted, and suicide.

9 Under the heading “suicide”, the team made six “bullet points” which
led them to consider that suicide was a possibility. There was much criticism
of each of these points in the courts below and the conclusions of each are
briefly summarised below.

(1) Mr Braganza’s “behaviour was reported to be notably different on this
voyage than on previous voyages”: (a) he was quiet and withdrawn, (b) there
were no clean officer’s uniforms in his cabin, and (c) his attention to detail in
record keeping had slipped. The judge [2012] EWHC 1423 (Comm)
rejected (a) and (b) but found (¢) justified. The Court of Appeal [2013]
2 Lloyd’s Rep 3 51 found all three justified.

(2) The shoes and sandals he usually wore on board were found in his
cabin after his disappearance. The judge found it difficult to see how this
could be probative of suicide as he could have worn his work boots. The
Court of Appeal agreed with him but thought it unimportant.

(3) “Several e-mail messages received from his immediate family . . .
suggest [he] had some family and/or financial difficulties that were causing
him concern.” The judge set out the e-mails from Mrs Braganza in some
detail, including one on 27 March 2009, where she wrote: “I really cannot
figure out what has shaken you out so much that you seem to be so afraid of
life.” (See also paras 73—74 of Lord Neuberger PSC’s judgment below.)
They certainly suggest that he was worried about something. The team did
not interview Mrs Braganza about her communications with her husband
during the voyage and what these might mean, but the judge concluded that
this was not unfair, because she could have provided an explanation as soon
as she got their report. The Court of Appeal considered that the team was
“undoubtedly correct” on this point (para 30).

(4) Mr Braganza was not aware, before joining the ship, of its status and
reputation and was reported to be unhappy about this. The judge accepted
that this was correct.

(5) He considered himself eligible for the 2008 bonus which had been
paid to him, but the employer had later advised him that it would be
withdrawn. The judge thought that this could not be a cogent reason for
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inferring suicide. The Court of Appeal held (as we shall see) that this was not
a necessary approach for the team to adopt.

(6) There were indications that the watertight door from the
accommodation block that opens onto the upper deck on the starboard side
may have been opened during the hours of darkness on the morning of
11 May. No member of the crew reported opening this door. The judge
rejected this point, as there was no evidence that the door had been opened
during the hours of darkness and the bosun could have left it secured on only
one dog when he went on deck at the start of the working day. The Court of
Appeal considered this an extremely small point (para 33).

10 The team’s report went through several drafts. The first version did
not mention suicide. After exchanges with BP Legal, the final version
concluded: “Having regard for all the evidence the investigation team
considers the most likely scenario to be that the chief engineer jumped
overboard intentionally and therefore took his own life.” The judge rejected
the suggestion that there had been a “fundamental shift” between the first
and final versions. The team had always felt that suicide was the most likely
explanation. However, they could not rule out that he had gone on deck for
a work related reason and that his fall had been accidental. The judge
commented, at para 88: “What can perhaps be said is that the team’s initial
reluctance to identify suicide as . . . the likely cause of death suggests that
such a conclusion was not clearly proven in the minds of the team.”

11 The report was produced by and for BP Shipping Ltd, who owned
and managed the vessel. It was then forwarded to Mr Sullivan, general
manager of BP Maritime Services (Singapore) Pte Ltd, a Singapore company
which provides management services to the shipping company and
employed the officers on board the vessel. Mr Sullivan made no further
inquiries of his own. On the basis of the team’s report, he concluded that
there had been “wilful default” within the meaning of clause 7.6.3 of the
contract of employment and thus that death in service benefits were not
payable to Mrs Braganza. BP Legal informed her solicitors of this on
13 November 2009.

12 Mrs Braganza brought a claim in contract against the employer for
death benefits amounting to US$230,265. She also brought a claim in tort
under the Fatal Accidents Act 1976 and the Law Reform (Miscellaneous
Provisions) Act 1934 for damages quantified as US$1,325,945, alleging that
the death was caused by negligence on the part of both the shipping
company and the employer. BP produced a supplemental report in answer
to the claims (see paras 83-85 of Lord Neuberger PSC’s judgment below).
Mr Sullivan maintained his decision. The action was tried over eight days in
2012 before Teare J, sitting as a judge of the Admiralty Court.

13 Teare ] was unable to make a finding as to the cause of
Mr Braganza’s death (para 60): there was a real possibility, but it was not
more likely than not, that he had fallen overboard (para 57); but the
evidence was not sufficiently cogent to warrant a finding of suicide on
the balance of probabilities (para 58). He rejected the claim in tort on the
ground that there had been no breach of duty in deciding to carry out the
two operations that day (para 64) and that, even if there had been a breach
of duty, it had not caused the death (para 65). Mrs Braganza has not
appealed against that conclusion.
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14 Teare J upheld the contractual claim. It was common ground
between the parties that the opinion formed by the employer had to be
“reasonable” (para 76). This meant reasonable in the sense in which that
expression is used in Associated Provincial Picture Houses Ltd v
Wednesbury Corpn [1948] 1 KB 223, which had been applied to the exercise
of a contractual discretion (by a P & I Club) in CVG Siderurgicia del
Orinoco SA v London Steamship Owners’ Mutual Insurance Association
Ltd (The Vainqueur José) [1979] 1 Lloyd’s Rep 557 (para 91). As
clause 7.6.3 was in the nature of an exception or exclusion clause, the
burden of proving that the opinion was a reasonable one lay with the
employer (para 93). The investigation team did not direct themselves that
“before making a finding of suicide there should be cogent evidence
commensurate with or proportionate to the seriousness of a finding of
suicide” (para 94). They, and therefore Mr Sullivan, failed to take into
account the real possibility that Mr Braganza had gone out on deck in order
to check the weather to see whether it was safe to carry out the planned work
(para 96). They had stated in the first draft of their report that they “could
not find any work related reason for him to be outside during this time”. His
interest in the weather furnished such a reason and they should have taken it
into account (para 97). This mattered because they had concluded that an
accidental fall could not be discounted (para 98). Thus they were not
properly directed in law and failed to take into account a relevant matter
when forming their opinion (para 99). BP had conceded that, if the opinion
was not reasonable, the contractual claim should succeed (rather than the
matter be sent back to them for reconsideration) (para 93). Having reached
that conclusion, nevertheless Teare J very properly went on to consider the
reasons advanced against the team’s conclusion and formed the views
outlined in para 9 above on the six “bullet points™.

15 The employer appealed. Longmore L] (with whom Rimer and
Tomlinson LJJ agreed) [2013] 2 Lloyd’s Rep 351, para 9 thought it “not
entirely clear” whether the judge had considered that the failure of the team,
and Mr Sullivan, to direct themselves as to the need for cogent evidence
before making a finding of suicide was in itself enough to render their
opinions unreasonable. But, as Mocatta J had pointed out in The Vainqueur
José, at p 577, “it would be a mistake to expect [of a lay body] the same
expert, professional and almost microscopic investigation of the problems,
both factual and legal, that is demanded of a suit in a court of law”
(para 13). It could not be the law that a non-lawyer such as Mr Sullivan had
to give himself directions before forming his opinion (para 14). It would be
impossible for him to give himself such a direction without taking legal
advice of a kind which cannot have been contemplated by the requirements
of the death benefit clause (para 20).

16 As to the failure to appreciate that there might be work-related
reasons for Mr Braganza to go on deck, that failure could not make the
employer’s opinion unreasonable in the absence of a mechanism explaining
how he could accidentally fall overboard (para 22). Thus Longmore L] was
unable to agree with either of Teare J’s reasons for saying that the opinion
was unreasonable (para 23). He therefore went on to consider and reject the
wider ranging attack mounted on the six “bullet points” (see para 9 above).
The conclusion of suicide was a reasonable one in all the circumstances

(para 34).
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The principles

17 This case raises two inter-linked questions of principle, one general
and one particular. The particular issue is the proper approach of a
contractual fact-finder who is considering whether a person may have
committed suicide. Does the fact-finder have to bear in mind the need for
cogent evidence before forming the opinion that a person has committed
suicide? The general issue is what it means to say that the decision of a
contractual fact-finder must be a reasonable one. There are many statements
in the reported cases to the effect that the principles are well settled and well
understood, but this case illustrates that all is not as clear or as well
understood as it might be.

18 Contractual terms in which one party to the contract is given the
power to exercise a discretion, or to form an opinion as to relevant facts, are
extremely common. It is not for the courts to rewrite the parties’ bargain for
them, still less to substitute themselves for the contractually agreed decision-
maker. Nevertheless, the party who is charged with making decisions which
affect the rights of both parties to the contract has a clear conflict of interest.
That conflict is heightened where there is a significant imbalance of power
between the contracting parties as there often will be in an employment
contract. The courts have therefore sought to ensure that such contractual
powers are not abused. They have done so by implying a term as to the
manner in which such powers may be exercised, a term which may vary
according to the terms of the contract and the context in which the decision-
making power is given.

19 There is an obvious parallel between cases where a contract assigns a
decision-making function to one of the parties and cases where a statute (or
the royal prerogative) assigns a decision- makmg function to a public
authority. In neither case is the court the primary decision-maker. The
primary decision-maker is the contracting party or the public authority. It is
right, therefore, that the standard of review generally adopted by the courts
to the decisions of a contracting party should be no more demanding than
the standard of review adopted in the judicial review of administrative
action. The question is whether it should be any less demanding.

20 The decided cases reveal an understandable reluctance to adopt the
fully developed rigour of the principles of judicial review of administrative
action in a contractual context. But at the same time they have struggled to
articulate precisely what the difference might be. In Abu Dhabi National
Tanker Co v Product Star Shipping Ltd (No 2) [1993] 1 Lloyd’s Rep 397,
404, after contrasting the position in judicial review, Leggatt L] explained:

“The essential question always is whether the relevant power has been
abused. Where A and B contract with each other to confer a discretion on
A, that does not render B subject to A’s uninhibited whim. In my
judgment, the authorities show that not only must the discretion be
exercised honestly and in good faith, but, having regard to the provisions
of the contract by which it is conferred, it must not be exercised
arbitrarily, capriciously or unreasonably.”

21 That was in the context of a shipowner’s decision as to whether a port
to which a vessel was directed was dangerous. In Paragon Finance plc v Nash
[2002] 1 WLR 685, the court had to consider whether there was any implied
term limiting the power of a mortgagee to set interest rates under a variable
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rate mortgage. Dyson L] had no difficulty in holding, at paras 32-36, that it
was necessary, in order to give effect to the reasonable expectations of the
parties, to imply a term that the power would not be exercised dishonestly,
for an improper purpose, capriciously or arbitrarily. He went on to discuss
whether there should also be a term that the power would not be exercised
unreasonably. He concluded, at paras 37-42, that there had been a
“somewhat reluctant” extension of the implied term to include
“unreasonableness that is analogous to Wednesbury unreasonableness”.

22 These authorities, together with Ludgate Insurance Co Litd v
Citibank NA [1998] Lloyd’s Rep IR 221, 239-240, and Gan Insurance Co
Ltd v Tai Ping Insurance Co Ltd (No 2) [2001] 2 All ER (Comm) 299,
paras 64, 67, 73, are helpfully summarised by Rix LJ in Socimer
International Bank Ltd v Standard Bank London Ltd [2008] Bus LR 1304.
In his conclusion, at para 66, he substitutes the more modern term
“irrationality” for unreasonableness:

“It is plain from these authorities that a decision-maker’s discretion
will be limited, as a matter of necessary implication, by concepts of
honesty, good faith, and genuineness, and the need for the absence of
arbitrariness, capriciousness, perversity and irrationality. The concern
is that the discretion should not be abused. Reasonableness and
unreasonableness are also concepts deployed in this context, but only in a
sense analogous to Wednesbury unreasonableness, not in the sense in
which that expression is used when speaking of the duty to take
reasonable care, or when otherwise deploying entirely objective criteria:
as for instance when there might be an implication of a term requiring the
fixing of a reasonable price, or a reasonable time. In the latter class of
case, the concept of reasonableness is intended to be entirely mutual and
thus guided by objective criteria . . . Laws L] in the course of argument
put the matter accurately, if I may respectfully agree, when he said that
pursuant to the Wednesbury rationality test, the decision remains that of
the decision-maker, whereas on entirely objective criteria of
reasonableness the decision-maker becomes the court itself.”

23 The same point was made (albeit in a completely different context,
and so obiter) by Lord Sumption JSC in Hayes v Willoughby [2013] 1 WLR

935, para 14:

“Rationality is not the same as reasonableness. Reasonableness is an
external, objective standard applied to the outcome of a person’s
thoughts or intentions . . . A test of rationality, by comparison, applies a
minimum objective standard to the relevant person’s mental processes. It
imports a requirement of good faith, a requirement that there should be
some logical connection between the evidence and the ostensible reasons
for the decision, and (which will usually amount to the same thing) an
absence of arbitrariness, of capriciousness or of reasoning so outrageous
in its defiance of logic as to be perverse.” (Emphasis added.)

This is an obvious echo of the classic definition given by Lord Diplock when
summarising the grounds of judicial review in Council of Civil Service
Unions v Minister for the Civil Service (“the GCHQ case”) [1985] AC 374,
4710:
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“By ‘irrationality’ I mean what can by now be succinctly referred to as
“Wednesbury unreasonableness’ . . . It applies to a decision which is so
outrageous in its defiance of logic or of accepted moral standards that no
sensible person who had applied his mind to the question to be decided
could have arrived at it.”

24 The problem with this formulation, which is highlighted in this case,
is that it is not a precise rendition of the test of the reasonableness of an
administrative decision which was adopted by Lord Greene MR in
Associated Provincial Picture Houses Ltd v Wednesbury Corpn [1948] 1 KB
223, 233—234. His test has two limbs:

“The court is entitled to investigate the action of the local authority
with a view to seeing whether they have taken into account matters
which they ought not to take into account, or conversely, have refused
to take into account or neglected to take into account matters which
they ought to take into account. Once that question is answered in
favour of the local authority, it may still be possible to say that,
although the local authority have kept within the four corners of the
matters which they ought to consider, they have nevertheless come to a
conclusion so unreasonable that no reasonable authority could ever
have come to it.”

The first limb focuses on the decision-making process—whether the right
matters have been taken into account in reaching the decision. The second
focuses on its outcome—whether, even though the right things have been
taken into account, the result is so outrageous that no reasonable decision-
maker could have reached it. The latter is often used as a shorthand for the
Wednesbury principle, but without necessarily excluding the former.

25 The parties in this case disagree as to whether the term to be implied
into this contract includes both limbs. Mrs Braganza argues that the
employer must “keep within the four corners of the matters which they
ought to consider”, while the employer argues that its decision may only be
impugned if it is a decision which no reasonable employer could have
reached.

26 Mrs Braganza can pray in aid the approach of Mocatta J in The
Vainqueur José [1979] 1 Lloyd’s Rep 557. He held, at p 574, that the
common law principles applicable to the exercise of a contractual discretion
include fairness, reasonableness, bona fides and absence of misdirection in
law. He later quoted, at p 575, without reservation, Lord Greene MR’s
summary of the public law concept of reasonableness. There is nothing in
Mocatta J’s judgment to suggest that only the second of those elements is
applicable to the exercise of a contractual discretion. He did, at p 574,
contrast the contractual principles with the principles applicable to the
exercise of a statutory discretion by ministers of the Crown, but on the basis
that, in addition, the minister’s decision had to be consistent with the objects
and other provisions of the statute in question, citing Laker Airways Ltd v
Department of Trade [1977] QB 643.

27 On that point, on the other hand, in Hayes v Willoughby [2013]
1 WLR 935, para 14, just before the passage quoted in para 23 above, Lord
Sumption JSC stated that rationality “has ... in recent years played an
increasingly significant role in the law relating to contractual discretions,
where the law’s object is also to limit the decision-maker to some relevant
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contractual purpose”. This is consistent with his earlier observations in
British Telecommunications plc v Telefonica O2 UK Ltd [2014] Bus LR

765, para 37:

“As a general rule, the scope of a contractual discretion will depend on
the nature of the discretion and the construction of the language
conferring it. But it is well established that in the absence of very clear
language to the contrary, a contractual discretion must be exercised in
good faith and not arbitrarily or capriciously [citing Abu Dhabi [1993]
1 Lloyd’s Rep 379, 404, Gan Insurance [2001] 2 All ER (Comm) 299,
para 67 and Paragon Finance [2002] 1 WLR 685, paras 39—41]. This will
normally mean that it must be exercised consistently with its contractual
purpose: Ludgate Insurance Co Ltd v Citibank NA [1998] Lloyd’s Rep IR
221, para 35, per Brooke L] and Equitable Life Assurance Society v
Hyman [2002] 1 AC 408, 459, per Lord Steyn, and p 461, per Lord Cooke
of Thorndon.”

28 There are signs, therefore, that the contractual implied term is
drawing closer and closer to the principles applicable in judicial review. The
contractual cases do not in terms discuss whether both limbs of the
Wednesbury test apply. However, in Gan Insurance Co Ltd v Tai Ping
Insurance Co Ltd [2001] 2 All ER (Comm) 299, where the issue was the
limits, if any, to the reinsurers’ power to withhold approval to the insured’s
agreement to settle a claim, Mance L] first commented, at para 64, that
“what was proscribed was unreasonableness in the sense of conduct or a
decision to which no reasonable person having the relevant discretion could
have subscribed”; but he concluded, at para 67:

“any withholding of approval by reinsurers should take place in good
faith after consideration of and on the basis of the facts giving rise to the
particular claim and not with reference to considerations wholly
extraneous to the subject matter of the particular reinsurance . . .”

29 If it is part of a rational decision-making process to exclude
extraneous considerations, it is in my view also part of a rational decision-
making process to take into account those considerations which are
obviously relevant to the decision in question. It is of the essence of
“Wednesbury reasonableness” (or “GCHQ rationality”) review to consider
the rationality of the decision-making process rather than to concentrate on
the outcome. Concentrating on the outcome runs the risk that the court will
substitute its own decision for that of the primary decision-maker.

30 It is clear, however, that unless the court can imply a term that the
outcome be ob]ectlvely reasonable—for example, a reasonable price or a
reasonable term—the court will only imply a term that the decision-making
process be lawful and rational in the public law sense, that the decision is
made rationally (as well as in good faith) and consistently with its
contractual purpose. For my part, I would include both limbs of the
Wednesbury formulation in the rationality test. Indeed, I understand Lord
Neuberger PSC (at para 103 of his judgment below) and I to be agreed as to
the nature of the test.

31 But whatever term may be implied will depend on the terms and the
context of the particular contract involved. I would add to that Mocatta J’s
observation in The Vainqueur José [1979] 1 Lloyd’s Rep 337, 577:
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“it would be a mistake to expect [of a lay body] the same expert,
professional and almost microscopic investigation of the problems, both
factual and legal, that is demanded of a suit in a court of law.”

Nor would “some slight misdirection” matter, at least if it were clear that,
had the legal position been properly appreciated, the decision would have
been the same. It may very well be that the same high standards of decision-
making ought not to be expected of most contractual decision-makers as are
expected of the modern state.

32 However, it is unnecessary to reach a final conclusion on the precise
extent to which an implied contractual term may differ from the principles
applicable to judicial review of administrative action. Given that the
question may arise in so many different contractual contexts, it may well be
that no precise answer can be given. The particular context of this case is an
employment contract, which, as Lord Hodge JSC explains, is of a different
character from an ordinary commercial contract. Any decision-making
function entrusted to the employer has to be exercised in accordance with
the implied obligation of trust and confidence. This must be borne in mind
in considering how the contractual decision-maker should approach the
question of whether a person has committed suicide.

33 Teare ] [2012] EWHC 1423 (Comm) at [46] directed himself, in
relation to his own decision as to the cause of Mr Braganza’s disappearance,
that “before a finding of suicide is made there must be evidence of sufficient
cogency commensurate with or proportionate to the seriousness of the
finding”, citing the observation of Watkins L] in R v West London Coroner,
Ex p Gray [1988] QB 467, 477478 that suicide is “still a drastic action
which often leaves in its wake serious social, economic and other
consequences”. He also directed himself, following the House of Lords’
decision in Rhesa Shipping Co SA v Edmunds (The Popi M) [1985] 1 WLR
9438, 955-956, that, where two improbable causes are suggested, he was not
bound to make a finding one way or another. I agree with Lord
Neuberger PSC, at para too of his judgment, that it is also perfectly proper
for the employer to conclude that he or she is unable to form an opinion as to
the cause of death. But the question is how he or she should go about
making a positive finding of suicide.

34 Longmore L] [2013] 2 Lloyd’s Rep 351, para 15 pointed out that the
direction based on Ex p Gray:

“might itself be said to be a little outdated since the decisions in In re
H (Minors) (Sexual Abuse: Standard of Proof) [1996] AC 563 and In re
B (Children) (Care Proceedings: Standard of Proof) (CAFCASS
intervening) [2009] 1 AC 11, which have emphasised that in civil cases
there is only one standard of proof, viz the balance of probabilities.”

Those cases make it clear that there is not a sliding scale of probability to be
applied, commensurate with the seriousness of the subject matter or the
consequences of the decision. The only question is whether something is
more likely than not to have happened. Lord Hoffmann put it thus in I re
B (Children) (Care Proceedings: Standard of Proof ) (CAFCASS intervening)
[2009] AC 11, para 15:

“There is only one rule of law, namely that the occurrence of the fact in
issue must be proved to have been more probable than not. Common
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sense, not law, requires that in deciding this question, regard should be
had, to whatever extent appropriate, to inherent probabilities.”

35 Some things are inherently a great deal less likely than others. The
more unlikely something is, the more cogent must be the evidence required
to persuade the decision-maker that it has indeed happened. As Lord
Nicholls of Birkenhead explained in In re H (Minors) (Sexual Abuse:
Standard of Proof) [1996] AC 563, 586:

“When assessing the probabilities the court will have in mind as a
factor, to whatever extent is appropriate in the particular case, that the
more serious the allegation the less likely it is that the event occurred and,
hence, the stronger should be the evidence before the court concludes that
the allegation is established on the balance of probability.”

Thus, for example, most parents do not sexually abuse their children.
Cogent evidence is therefore required to establish that sexual abuse is more
likely than not to have happened. But once it is clear that such abuse has
happened, the threshold of incredulity has been surmounted, and the
question of who was responsible can be answered on the balance of
probabilities. Hence it is not the seriousness of the consequences of a finding
of suicide which demands that there be cogent evidence to support it, but its
inherent improbability.

36 However, Longmore L] also took the view that the employer did not
have to approach the matter in this way. I respectfully disagree. The
employer is entrusted with making a decision which has serious
consequences for the family of a deceased employee. It deprives them of
what would otherwise be a contractual right. There is no reason why the
employer should not approach that decision in the same way that any other
decision-maker should do. On the contrary, in view of the special nature of
the employment relationship, there is every reason why they should do so.
Employers can reasonably be expected to inform themselves of the principles
which are relevant to the decisions which they have to make. Employment
law is complicated and demanding in many legal systems, but employers are
expected to know it. They can also reasonably be expected to know how
they should approach making the important decisions which they are
required or empowered to make under the terms of the employment
contract. In my view, a decision that an employee has committed suicide is
not a rational or reasonable decision, in the terms discussed above, unless
the employer has had it clearly in mind that suicide is such an improbability
that cogent evidence is required to form the positive opinion that it has taken
place.

37 The employer now accepts that it is for it to show that the decision
which it reached was a reasonable decision in the sense which is required by
the contract.

Application to the facts

38 Inmy view, Mr Sullivan should not simply have accepted the view of
the investigation team that suicide was the most likely explanation for
Mr Braganza’s disappearance. The team had been conducting their
investigation for purposes which were different from the purpose of his
decision. Their purpose was to see whether BP’s systems could be improved.
They could and did make recommendations about the steps to be taken to
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support officers who might be experiencing financial or emotional problems.
Those recommendations were equally valid and sensible whether or not
Mr Braganza had in fact committed suicide.

39 Mr Sullivan’s task was quite different. He had to consider whether he
was in a position to make a positive finding that Mr Braganza had committed
suicide. He should have asked himself whether the evidence was sufficiently
cogent to overcome the inherent improbability of such a thing. In my view
that can be expected of any employer making a decision under a provision
such as this. Butit could certainly be expected of BP, which clearly had access
to in-house legal expertise to guide it in the decision-making process.

40 In this case, there were no positive indications of suicide. There was
no suicide note, no evidence of suicidal thoughts (apart perhaps from his
wife’s reference six weeks earlier to his seeming “so afraid of life”), no
evidence of overwhelming personal or financial pressures of the sort which
would be likely to lead a mature professional man to take his own life, no
evidence of psychiatric problems or a depressive personality. The “bullet
points” are at most straws in the wind. The two most significant are the
e-mails and the record-keeping deficiencies. The cogency of the e-mails from
Mrs Braganza is much diminished by the failure to ask her about them. The
team’s failure to do so is completely understandable, given the task which
had been set for them. But the employer’s failure to do so is much less
understandable. Nor do the record-keeping deficiencies appear to have been
explored in any depth.

41 Against those straws in the wind is the evidence that Mr Braganza’s
behaviour had appeared entirely normal to the master and the other officers
with whom he was in contact the night before. There was also a good deal of
evidence of his concern about the weather, which would have constituted a
good work-related reason for him to go on deck that morning. A further
relevant factor which ought to have been in the mind of this employer is that
Mr Braganza was a Roman Catholic. There are cultures in which suicide is
an acceptable, even an honourable, solution to certain problems or
dilemmas. But his was not one of them. For him, suicide was a mortal sin.
This increases its inherent improbability in his case and the corresponding
need for cogent evidence to support a positive finding.

42 Although I would not have phrased the correct approach exactly as
Teare ] phrased it, in my view he was right to conclude [2012] EWHC 1423
(Comm) at [95] that the investigation team’s report and conclusion could
not be regarded as sufficiently cogent evidence to justify Mr Sullivan, and
hence BP, in forming the positive opinion that Mr Braganza had committed
suicide. No one suggests that his decision was “arbitrary, capricious or
perverse”, but in my view it was unreasonable in the Wednesbury sense,
having been formed without taking relevant matters into account.

43 I would therefore allow this appeal, with the result that
Mrs Braganza’s claim in contract (for the comparatively modest sum of
US$230,265, albeit with interest) succeeds.

LORD HODGE ]JSC (with whom LORD KERR OF TONAGHMORE ]JSC
agreed)

44 1 agree with Baroness Hale of Richmond DPSC that this appeal
should be allowed.

45 For the sake of brevity I do not set out again the facts which Baroness
Hale DPSC and Lord Neuberger PSC have summarised at paras 1-16 and
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66-96 respectively. For the sake of simplicity I refer to the two BP
companies involved in this appeal as “BP” without drawing distinctions
between them, except in the next paragraph in which I identify
Mr Braganza’s employer.

46 Mr Renford Braganza’s contract of employment entitled him to
compensation in the form of a death in service benefit if he died in the
employment of BP Maritime Services (Singapore) Pte Ltd, the second
defendants (clause 7.3.1). Any sum payable as compensation was to be paid
to his nominated beneficiary, in this case his widow, the claimant and
appellant. That entitlement was subject to clause 7.6.3 which provided (so
far as material):

“compensation for death . . . shall not be payable if, in the opinion of
the company or its insurers, the death . . . resulted from amongst other
things, the officer’s wilful act, default or misconduct. . .”

47 BP denied Mrs Braganza the compensation because it was of the
opinion that Mr Braganza had committed suicide. That opinion, which
Mr Sullivan reached on behalf of BP, was based on a report of the
investigation team, and his subsequent confirmation of his decision was
based on the second report of that team after Mrs Braganza challenged the
decision. As Baroness Hale DPSC has shown in para 9 above, the team’s
conclusion that suicide was the most likely explanation for Mr Braganza’s
disappearance was based on six points which it set out as bullet points in its
report.

48 The task which the investigation team and Mr Sullivan faced was, as
Lord Neuberger PSC says, to decide how an unlikely event, which
undoubtedly occurred, was actually caused. As a result of the detailed
investigations there were only two realistic possibilities: accident or suicide.

49 I am struck by the paucity and the insubstantial nature of the
evidence from which BP inferred that Mr Braganza committed suicide.
While the six points must be considered in aggregate, the only ones which
seem to me to be capable of bearing any weight are (a) his lack of timely
record keeping on his last voyage, (b) the evidence in Mrs Braganza’s e-mails
of his financial worries since his family had settled in Canada and (c) his
concerns about the state of repair of his ship and the workload which fell on
him as chief engineer as a result. Evidence of some moodiness during the
voyage and irritation over the refusal of a bonus added little to the picture.
I agree with Baroness Hale DPSC’s description, at para 40 above, of the six
points on which the investigation team relied as “straws in the wind”.
Unsurprisingly, the team could not rule out the possibility that Mr Braganza
had gone on deck for some work related reason and that he had fallen into
the sea by accident.

50 Against the conclusion which BP reached is the inherent
improbability of suicide. Mr Braganza had no history of depression or
mental disorder. There was no evidence that he had spoken to anyone about
suicide. On 13 February 2009, before commencing his last voyage, he had
undergone a medical examination and was pronounced physically and
psychologically fit. His colleagues who saw him in the 36 hours before his
disappearance expressed no concerns about his appearance or behaviour.
The ship’s master, who was the last person to see him alive, also had no
concerns about his demeanour at oo.30 hours when they discussed the
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arrangements for the planned inspection and repairs which were scheduled
for the following morning. Mr Braganza left no suicide note or message that
indicated any intention to kill himself. Further, he and his wife were devout
Roman Catholics, for whom suicide is a mortal sin.

51 Accordingly, I readily understand Teare J’s conclusion, in the part of
his judgment in which he considered Mrs Braganza’s claim in tort, that the
evidence before the court was not sufficiently cogent to warrant a finding of
suicide on the balance of probabilities. But the issue in this case is not what a
court would decide if determining the matter at first instance. As Teare ]
recognised later in his judgment when he addressed Mrs Braganza’s claim in
contract, the decision maker was BP. The principal issue is: when is the court
entitled to intervene in the exercise of a contractual discretion?

52 As Baroness Hale DPSC has shown, at paras 18—31 above, the court
is not entitled to substitute its own view of what is a reasonable decision for
that of the person who is charged with making the decision; it conducts a
rationality review. In Clark v Nomura International plc [2000] IRLR 766,
para 40, a case concerning an employee’s entitlement to a discretionary
bonus, Burton J stated:

“the right test is one of irrationality or perversity (of which caprice or
capriciousness would be a good example) i e that no reasonable employer
would have exercised his discretion in this way.”

53 Like Baroness Hale DPSC, with whom Lord Neuberger PSC agrees
on this matter, at para 103 below, I think that it is difficult to treat as rational
the product of a process of reasoning if that process is flawed by the taking
into consideration of an irrelevant matter or the failure to consider a relevant
matter. While the courts have not as yet spoken with one voice, I agree that,
in reviewing at least some contractual discretionary decisions, the court
should address both limbs of Lord Greene MR’s test in Associated
Provincial Picture Houses Ltd v Wednesbury Corpn [1948] 1 KB 223,
233-234.

54 In my view it is clearly appropriate to do so in contracts of
employment which have specialties that do not normally exist in commercial
contracts. In Jobhnson v Unisys Ltd [2003] 1 AC 518, para 20 Lord Steyn
stated:

“It is no longer right to equate a contract of employment with
commercial contracts. One possible way of describing a contract of
employment in modern terms is as a relational contract.”

Similarly, in Keen v Commerzbank AG [2007] ICR 623, para 43
Mummery L] stated:

“Employment is a personal relationship. Its dynamics differ
significantly from those of business deals and of state treatment of its
citizens. In general there is an implied mutual duty of trust and
confidence between employer and employee. Thus it is the duty on the
part of an employer to preserve the trust and confidence which an
employee should have in him. This affects, or should affect, the way in
which an employer normally treats his employee.”

It would not be correct to treat that duty on the employer as flying off at the
moment of the employee’s death so as to free the employer from the
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constraints of that duty when it determines whether the nominated
beneficiary is entitled to the contractual death in service benefit. While the
duty as an inherent feature of the relationship of employer and employee
does not survive the ending of the relationship, such as by dismissal or the
expiry of a contractual period of employment, the death in service
compensation was part of his contractual benefits, to which his nominated
beneficiary was entitled unless BP were satisfied that the death was the result
of his wilful act. For the employer to behave otherwise than in accordance
with that duty would be to betray the trust of the deceased employee.

55 The personal relationship which employment involves may justify a
more intense scrutiny of the employer’s decision-making process than would
be appropriate in some commercial contracts.

56 The scope for such scrutiny differs according to the nature of the
decision which an employer makes. In this case clause 7 gave the employee a
prima facie entitlement to the death benefit unless BP could satisfy itself of a
factual circumstance which excluded the benefit. The nature of the exercise
which BP had to undertake in deciding the cause of death was very different
from the assessment of whether an employee was entitled to a discretionary
bonus, which is an exercise that involves a qualitative judgement of the
employee’s performance.

57 In cases such as Clark v Nomura International plc, Keen v
Commerzbank AG and Horkulak v Cantor Fitzgerald International [2005]
ICR 402 the courts have reviewed contractual decisions on the grant of
performance-related bonuses where there were no specific criteria of
performance or established formulae for calculating a bonus. In such cases
the employee is entitled to a bona fide and rational exercise by the employer
of its discretion. The courts are charged with enforcing that entitlement but
there is little scope for intensive scrutiny of the decision-making process.
The courts are in a much better position to review the good faith and
rationality of the decision-making process where the issue is whether or not
a state of fact existed, such as whether an employee’s wilful act caused his
death. The decision of the employer is not a judicial determination and the
court cannot expect judicial reasoning. But I see no reason why an
employer’s decision-making should be subject to scrutiny that is any less
intense than that which the court applies to the decision of a public authority
which is charged with making a finding of fact. A large company such as BP
is in a position to support its officials with legal and other advisory services
and should be able to face such scrutiny.

58 The investigation team and Mr Sullivan appear not to have
considered the real possibility of accident if Mr Braganza had a work-related
reason to be on deck after dawn, namely to check the weather conditions
which would affect the planned replacement of the cooling water jacket, and
had acted carelessly while standing at or even on the deck railings. While
there was evidence that Mr Braganza was generally very conscious of safety,
people do unexpected things and unforeseen accidents occur; accidents are
often difficult to predict, as Teare J stated [2012] EWHC 1423 (Comm) at
[56].

59 The focus of the team’s second report was on responding to
Mrs Braganza’s suggestion that her husband might have been washed
overboard or slipped while inspecting engine spares on the deck and fallen
over or between the railings as a result of the rolling of the ship. The team
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found no evidence in support of such an accident. The weather conditions
did not support such hypotheses. The railings were in good repair and
adequate to prevent someone falling on the deck and sliding overboard.
Those railings would also protect someone from falling overboard unless
they acted carelessly. But if Mr Braganza had behaved carelessly at the
railings, there would in all probability have been no evidence of the cause of
his fall which could be set against the exiguous evidence pointing to suicide.

60 Given the improbability of suicide in this case, I agree with Baroness
Hale DPSC, at para 36 above, there had to be cogent evidence to overcome
that improbability. Not only do I not see that evidence but also I do not
detect any consideration of both the possibility of Mr Braganza having acted
carelessly while at the railings and that there would in all probability be no
evidence of such behaviour. On those bases the appeal succeeds.

61 There is a further point. I do not rely on it in reaching my decision
because it was not argued in this appeal and it may merit further argument in
a suitable case. Ithink that the employer’s obligation of trust and confidence
may provide a further reason for requiring cogent evidence. A finding that
an employee has committed suicide carries a stigma for the spouse of the
deceased employee. Teare J in his judgment, at para 46, cited Watkins L] in
R v West London Coroner, Ex p Gray [1988] QB 467, 477—478, where he
stated that suicide is “a drastic action which often leaves in its wake serious
social, economic and other consequences.” I accept that “there is no logical
or necessary connection between seriousness and probability”: see In re
B (Children) (Care Proceedings: Standard of Proof) (CAFCASS
intervening) [2009] 1 AC 11, para 72, per Baroness Hale of Richmond. In
many cases the court or a lay decision-maker may have to decide on very
thin evidence whether an event occurred on a balance of probability. But it
may not be appropriate to do so in every context. Because employment is a
relational contract, an employer may require cogent evidence before it
makes a finding that has such consequences for an employee or his family,
including the loss of the death in service benefit. I am inclined to think that
it is consistent with the duty of trust and confidence that where, as here, the
evidence is exiguous, the employer should ask itself whether there was
evidence of sufficient quality to justify the finding, and when there is no
cogent evidence, it should refrain from making a positive finding as to the
cause of death. Unlike a judge in civil disputes or in family justice cases, an
employer can sit on the fence; it does not have to find a cause of death if one
is not clear.

62  Whether or not the obligation of trust and confidence imposes this
constraint on an employer, I am satisfied that there was not sufficient
evidence of suicide in this case to outweigh its inherent improbability and
Teare ] was justified in so finding. Absent cogent evidence to support it,
Mr Sullivan and thus BP should not have made a finding of suicide.

63 I do not question the good faith of the investigation team, who
carried out a thorough investigation under a different remit, or of
Mr Sullivan, who made the positive finding on behalf of BP. Nor do I think
that BP acted unfairly in the manner it carried out the task. But, like
Baroness Hale DPSC and Teare ], I do not think that the report of the
investigation team gave Mr Sullivan the evidential basis for forming the
positive opinion that Mr Braganza had committed suicide.

64 Iwould therefore allow the appeal.
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LORD NEUBERGER OF ABBOTSBURY PSC (with whom LORD
WILSON JSC agreed)

65 The ultimate issue on this appeal is whether Niloufer Braganza, the
widow of Renford Braganza, is disentitled from obtaining a death in service
payment from his employer (whom I will refer to as BP) following his death
at sea, on the ground that his death was caused by suicide. In agreement
with the Court of Appeal [2013] 2 Lloyd’s Rep 351, and respectfully
differing from the majority of the court and from Teare J [2012] EWHC
1423 (Comm), I consider that Mrs Braganza is disentitled from obtaining the
benefit in question.

The basic facts

66 In order to explain my reasons for reaching this conclusion, I will set
out the significant facts as I see them, although I am conscious that this
means a degree of overlap with Baroness Hale of Richmond DPSC’s
judgment. Mr Braganza had been employed by BP since 2004 as chief
engineer. His terms of employment were set out in a contract, of which only
parts of clause 7 are relevant for present purposes. The effect of clause 7.3
was that, in the event of his death “whilst in the employment of [BP]”,
Mr Braganza’s “nominated beneficiary” (in this case Mrs Braganza, the
claimant in these proceedings) would be entitled to compensation equal to
“three times [his] annual salary”. However, this entitlement was subject to
certain exceptions. One of those exceptions was set out in clause 7.6.3
which stipulated that no such compensation would be payable if, inter alia:
“in the opinion of [BP] or its insurers, the death . . . resulted from . . . [his]
wilful act, default or misconduct whether at sea or ashore . . .”

67 On 9 February 2009, Mr Braganza joined MV British Unity, a 183
metre long, 46,803 mt deadweight oil tanker, at Gibraltar. Unusually, and
contrary to standard practice, he was not given a briefing, and in particular
he was not told that the vessel needed substantial repairs. Major work was
carried out while the vessel was in Ferrol, Spain between 18 and 22 April
2009, an operation for which Mr Braganza was responsible, albeit under
supervision. After leaving Ferrol, further problems came to light and the
vessel berthed in Falmouth for work and then went on to Brofjorden in
Sweden for further work. The vessel was then loaded with unleaded
gasoline, and set sail for Jebel Ali, but was then ordered to divert to New
York. On 11 May 2009, Mr Braganza was lost overboard when the vessel
was in the mid-North Atlantic, en route for New York, between or.oo
(when he sent an e-mail) and 07.00 (when his cabin was seen to be empty).

The relevant background facts

68 Mr Braganza was an able and experienced engineer, a staunch
Roman Catholic and a strong family man, with a wife and two children, and
he telephoned his family when he was at sea every two or three days. He had
been found to be physically and psychologically fit when examined in
February 2009.

69 During the 36 or so hours before his disappearance, Mr Braganza
was described as “normal” by those who saw him. On the evening of 9 May
2009, he was the caller in a game of bingo played by a number of the crew
members, and, according to the chief officer, he made the party “a lot of
fun”. He had discussions for around 9o minutes on 1o May with the master
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and the second engineer about the replacement of a cooling water jacket
which cooled one of the six cylinders of the vessel’s diesel engine, which
involved the engines being turned off and which required reasonably clement
weather. Mr Braganza thought that this needed doing, and it was agreed
that it would be carried out next day, weather permitting. After meeting
crew members and watching a comedy film with them, he discussed the
proposed operation and the likely weather conditions in his cabin with the
master at about 23.30 for rather over an hour. At 23.24, while the master
was with him, he e-mailed an engineering superintendent about the
proposed operation, which was approved in an e-mail nine minutes later
“If weather and schedule permits”. Before the master left his cabin,
Mr Braganza checked the Indian Premier League cricket results on his
computer. At or.00 on 11 May, Mr Braganza e-mailed the second engineer
concerning entries in the log book. He was not seen alive again.

70 While he was chief engineer on MV British Unity, Mr Braganza was
described by some of those on board as being withdrawn and “staring into
space”, in contrast with his happy character noted on previous
voyages—although he was, as mentioned, in good humour on 9 May.
During the carrying out of the works at Ferrol in April, Mr Braganza’s skills
did not impress the BP superintendent, who told him how he might improve
them.

71 On 24 March 2009, Mr Braganza was advised by the captain of
British Unity that he had been awarded a bonus of $1,688, but on 18 April,
the master was told to deduct this sum from Mr Braganza’s salary as he had
had a break in service in 2008, which disentitled him from having a bonus.
This was communicated on the same day to Mr Braganza, who immediately
challenged the deduction, but his challenge was rejected by BP on 7 May.

72 As chief engineer, Mr Braganza was respon51ble for writing up the
daily orders he gave his staff in the chief engineer’s order book. The last
entry which he made was on 18 April 2009, when the vessel was still at
berth, and when he was not under any obligation to make any entries.
However, from 22 April 2009, when the vessel left Ferrol, he was obliged to
make such entries, but he made none at any time thereafter.

73 It is also appropriate to refer to e-mails which were sent to
Mr Braganza by his wife after he had joined British Unity. According to the
evidence of Mrs Braganza to Teare ], Mr Braganza was worried about the
cost of living in Toronto, where he had moved with his family from India in
July 2008. The two had had telephone discussions on 13, 14 and
15 February, and in an e-mail on the last of those dates, his wife had e-mailed
Mr Braganza saying that she “thank[ed] God for what we have and what the
last seven months have done to us”, and encouraging him “to make a
decision to let go of anything that is holding you down”. Again according to
the evidence of Mrs Braganza, Mr Braganza was also concerned about the
amount of work that needed to be done to the vessel, and on 17 February, his
wife e-mailed him saying: “please do not break your head about getting this
opportunity on Unity. . . Just relax . . . think this is like any other ship . . .
So please do not stress yourself thinking of unnecessary stuff.” However, it
appears that Mr Braganza continued to worry about money and the repairs.

74 On 27 March 2009, in what strikes me as a particularly relevant
e-mail, Mrs Braganza asked her husband not to worry, saying that
“everything will work out just fine” and that “I really cannot figure out what
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has shaken you out so much that you seem to be so afraid of life”, adding: “If
we keep crying over spilt milk we will not be able to go on with life.” And,
on 6 May, she e-mailed him, begging him to “be happy for whatever we
have” and expressing concern that “In Toronto . . . you seem[ed] sad” and
“Now on the ship too you do not seem happy”. She also said: “you are
thinking too much about the future and that is eating you.” She added that
she wished he “could share [her] enthusiasm”, asking “what are you
frightened about?”

The reports commissioned by BP

75 After Mr Braganza had disappeared, BP appointed a five person
investigation team, pursuant to its “group defined practice”, which applies
to any fatality on board a vessel. The team consisted of a vice-president in
the engineering, refining and logistics technology department, a health safety
security and environment manager, a marine incident investigator, a
marine standards superintendent, and a fleet offshore marine services
superintendent.

76 The members of the team boarded the vessel on 18 May 2009 when
it arrived in New York, and carried out an investigation, and produced their
detailed fatal incident report (“the first report”) on 17 September 2009.
According to the uncontradicted evidence, the first report had been
produced after carrying out careful inspections, interviewing 54 witnesses,
and looking at “hundreds of documents™.

77 The “terms of reference” were set out at the start of the first report.
They were to “investigate the relevant circumstances leading up to the loss
of” Mr Braganza, to “identify if possible the root causes of the incident”, “As
a result [to] identify any changes or improvements” in BP’s safety systems,
and to “identify any common factors” with another incident on a different
vessel. The first report then set out some other formal information.

78 The first report then summarised its conclusions. After referring to
the team’s “in depth investigation”, the summary stated that the team could
not “conclude for certain the root causes of the incident”. Then, after ruling
out certain other possibilities, the findings concluded by saying that the team
“considers the most likely scenario to be that the chief engineer jumped
overboard intentionally and therefore took his own life”. The first report
then set out certain recommendations for the future.

79 The first report next recited the history leading up to the tragic death
of Mr Braganza in some detail, including the need for the vessel’s repairs, the
experience of Mr Braganza, and such details of the “incident” as the team
could identify, including the response to his disappearance from the vessel.
The first report then explained the investigatory steps which the team had
taken, including interviewing those on board, interviewing other people
who might have relevant information, photographing and logging
documents, inspecting the vessel, collecting other relevant information and
analysing all data. The first report went on to consider and reject the
possibilities of “hiding on board”, “collec[tion] by a 3rd party vessel” or “fall
from vessel due to horseplay, altercation or foul play”.

80 The first report then addressed “accidental fall from vessel”, and
while the team found “No evidence of substandard or unsafe structures”,
they considered that slipping overboard “cannot be discounted” although
there was no evidence to support it. The report then considered the

© 2015 The Incorporated Council of Law Reporting for England and Wales



1683
[2015] 1 WLR Braganza v BP Shipping Ltd (SC(E))
Lord Neuberger of Abbotsbury PSC

possibility of suicide, and mentioned the matters referred to in paras 69—74
above, namely Mr Braganza’s withdrawn character, his concerns about his
finances, his worry about the vessel’s poor repair, the e-mails from his wife,
the criticism he received at Ferrol, and the withdrawal of his bonus. The
first report then stated that, although Mr Braganza’s state of mind “cannot
be known”, it was “possible” that he jumped overboard. Under the
heading of “findings”, the first report then repeated the conclusions
contained at the start, including: “the most likely scenario to be that the
chief engineer jumped overboard intentionally and therefore took his own
life.”

81 Mr Sullivan, BP’s general manager, was appointed by BP to address
the cause of Mr Braganza’s death for the purpose of clause 7. He
considered the first report and accepted the conclusion reached by the
team. Accordingly, he decided that the death in service benefits under
clause 7.3 were not payable to Mrs Braganza, and this was duly
communicated to her.

82 Mrs Braganza then challenged the investigation team’s rejection of
the possibility that Mr Braganza’s death was caused by an accident, on the
basis that, for the purpose of seeing whether the cooling water jacket could
be replaced, he could well have gone on deck to see the state of the weather
and fallen overboard. Accordingly, Mrs Braganza contended that the right
conclusion was that her late husband had died as a result of an accident. She
provided a statement to the team, which then reconsidered the matter. On
12 July 2011, the team produced a supplemental report (“the second
report”) in which they adhered to their conclusion.

83 The second report referred to many of the findings of the first report.
It also observed that the state of the weather during the night of To May
2009 and the morning of 11 May was “ever improving” and could “be
considered good weather mid-Atlantic”, which rendered it improbable that
Mr Braganza had been washed overboard or had fallen on deck due to a roll.
It stated that, as “a senior and respected chief engineer, and reported as being
‘very safety conscious’ by his shipmates”, Mr Braganza “is highly unlikely to
have ventured out on deck during the hours of darkness and certainly not
without informing the officer of the watch on the bridge”. The second report
went on to point out that there would have been no reason for his checking
on the weather, because that assessment “would in any event be carried out
from the bridge by the master and/or the [chief officer] who was responsible
for the task”. The report also said that the safety standards on board
“impressed those of the team visiting a BP ship for the first time”. A little
later, the team stated:

“it would be extremely unlikely that a person could trip, slip or fall in
such a manner so as to fall overboard while carrying out normal
shipboard duties and in the weather conditions which were known to
prevail at that time.”

The second report also stated that the team were “not aware of any previous
cases within BP where weather conditions or rolling of the vessel had caused
anyone to go overboard accidentally” (emphasis in the original). The report
also stated that the team had “considered the statement of Mrs Braganza
dated May 2011” and that “the contents do not affect the team’s
conclusions”.
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84 The second report went on to say that the team considered:

“that the scenario of chief engineer Braganza going outside to check on
equipment during the night or early morning and suffering a fall that took
him over the side of the vessel, [to have been] unlikely in the extreme.”

The report then turned to the possibility of suicide and repeated the points
which gave some support for that notion, which were summarised in these
terms: “there seemed a lot of independent and reported (although
circumstantial) evidence indicating a depressed state of mind combined with
personal problems.” The lack of a suicide note, it said, “cannot be taken as a
firm indication that suicide was not the cause of his disappearance”.

85 The second report therefore explained that the team “assess|ed]
suicide as the most likely scenario, although equally the investigation team
cannot firmly conclude what happened to chief engineer Braganza on the
night of the incident” (emphasis in the original). The team also explained
that they “did not reach this conclusion”—that Mr Braganza committed
suicide—“on the basis of exclusion ie because we could not find any other
cause as being likely or possible”. They added that “there was no single
piece of evidence on which [the team] concluded suicide” and that it was
“very much a collection of a number of issues and the general feeling based
on this evidence that chief engineer Braganza intended to take his own life”.

86 Following Mrs Braganza’s contentions and the provision of the
second report, Mr Sullivan reconsidered his opinion in the light of those
contentions and that report and remained of the view that Mr Braganza’s
death resulted from suicide. As he explained in the subsequent court
proceedings, he “took the view that there was a reasonable basis on which to
conclude that deliberate suicide was the most likely scenario”, which was a
conclusion reached on the basis that “there was positive evidence that made
deliberate suicide the most probable cause of death”. He also said that he
did not arrive at this conclusion “by a process of elimination”.

The decisions in the courts below

87 Mrs Braganza issued proceedings against BP claiming (i) damages
under the Fatal Accidents Act 1976 on the ground that BP was in breach of
its duty of care to Mr Braganza (“the first claim”), and (ii) that BP’s opinion
as to the cause of Mr Braganza’s death, based as it was on the first and
second reports was flawed and ought to be declared invalid (“the second
claim”). The trial lasted eight days before Teare J, who heard a number of
witnesses primarily directed to the first claim. Having heard argument, he
gave a reserved judgment [2012] EWHC 1423 (Comm) in favour of BP on
the first claim and in favour of Mrs Braganza on the second claim. The
judgment included some detailed findings of fact and conclusions in relation
to Mr Braganza’s death, because of the first claim, namely that under the
1976 Act.

88 In paras 54 and 57 of his judgment, the judge concluded that, while
“there was . . . a real possibility that Mr Braganza went out on deck . . . to
assess the weather himself”, he was “not . . . persuaded that it is probable
that he did s0”, and he concluded that while there was “a real, not a fanciful,
possibility that Mr Braganza fell overboard”, it was “not . . . probable that
he did so”. In para 58, the judge said that there was also “a real, not a
fanciful, possibility that he committed suicide”.
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89 The judge therefore concluded that Mrs Braganza’s claim under the
1976 Act failed, as the onus was on her to show that her husband’s death
was accidental: para 61. Although it was not necessary to do so, the judge
went on in paras 64-65 to hold that, even if she had succeeded in
establishing an accident, Mrs Braganza’s claim under the 1976 Act would
have failed on the additional grounds that she had failed to prove breach of
duty by BP or causation.

90 The judge then turned to the second claim, namely Mrs Braganza’s
challenge to BP’s opinion under clause 7.6.3 that Mr Braganza committed
suicide, and concluded that Mr Sullivan had not properly directed himself
before forming the opinion that Mr Braganza had committed suicide. In
particular, in para 94, Teare | said that the team:

“did not direct itself that before making a finding of suicide there
should be cogent evidence commensurate with or proportionate to
the seriousness of a finding of suicide. This is understandable in
circumstances where the purpose of its investigation focused on whether
there were [sic] any BP systems had failed and to make recommendations
to improve BP’s systems . . . the team’s remit did not include considering
whether the claimant should receive any death in service benefit pursuant
to Mr Braganza’s contract of employment. However, the findings of the
team were adopted by Mr Sullivan when forming BP’s opinion for the
purposes of clause 7.6.3 of the contract of employment . . . There is no
evidence that he directed himself that before forming the opinion that
Mr Braganza committed suicide there should be cogent evidence
commensurate with or proportionate to the seriousness of a finding of
suicide. It is unlikely that he did. This was required . . . because the
consequence of forming that opinion was that Mr Braganza’s widow
would be deprived of the death benefits under her husband’s contract of
employment. Fairness required that BP and in particular Mr Sullivan
should have been properly directed in that regard.”

91 Teare ] expanded on this in paras 96—97 in these terms:

“96. The investigation team, and hence Mr Sullivan, failed to take into
account the real possibility that Mr Braganza went out onto deck in order
to check the weather to see whether it was safe to carry out the planned
work . . .

“97. The existence of a real possibility that Mr Braganza went out on
deck to check the weather is, in my judgment, a relevant matter to take
into account when considering whether suicide has been shown to [be]
more likely than not. The [team’s] report strongly suggests that this was
not taken into account . . .”

92 The judge then went on to reject various other criticisms of the
reports, namely the lack of any psychiatric expertise (irrelevant as BP did not
suggest that Mr Braganza suffered from a psychiatric illness), lack of
engineering expertise (irrelevant to the issues which the team had to decide),
and the fact that the team divided up to hear evidence (there was no
requirement that they heard all the evidence together). The judge also
considered and accepted some of Mrs Braganza’s criticisms about the
findings made by the team (and the more important examples are given by
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Baroness Hale DPSC in para 9(1), (2) and (6) above), but he did not base his
decision in favour of Mrs Braganza on these criticisms (para 120).

93 One further criticism raised on behalf of Mrs Braganza before the
judge against the opinion formed by Mr Sullivan is worth mentioning,
namely that neither the team nor Mr Sullivan had interviewed Mrs Braganza.
The judge thought that “in principle . . . fairness did . . . require” her to be
interviewed, although he accepted Mr Sullivan’s explanation that he did not
want to “intrude unnecessarily into the family’s grief”. However, given that
Mrs Braganza had the opportunity to comment on the first report and did not
offer any comment in relation to the matters the team relied on to justify its
finding of suicide, the judge rejected her case on this point.

94 In these circumstances, the judge effectively set aside the opinion of
Mr Sullivan on behalf of BP that Mr Braganza had committed suicide, and
determined that Mrs Braganza was entitled to the death in service benefit
under clause 7.3, and gave judgment in her favour in the sum of $230,265
with interest.

95 BP appealed against the judgment, and the Court of Appeal [2013]
2 Lloyd’s Rep 351, for reasons given in a judgment given by Longmore L],
with which Rimer and Tomlinson LJJ agreed, allowed its appeal.
Longmore L] disagreed, at paras 19 and 20, with the notion that Mr Sullivan
(or the team) should have directed himself ( or themselves) that “there should
be cogent evidence commensurate with or proportionate to the seriousness
of a finding of suicide”, on the ground that it was unreasonable to expect him
(or them) to take such an approach. Longmore L] then went to explain that
that was not necessarily the end of the matter, as the “relevant opinion still
has to be reasonable”. However, he disagreed with Teare ]’s view that the
team “did not take into account the fact that Mr Braganza might have had
legitimate (non-suicidal) reasons for being on deck”. Longmore L] also said,
at para 22, that, even if the team had failed to take that possibility into
account, it would not render its conclusion unreasonable, given “the absence
of a mechanism explaining how he could accidentally fall overboard”.

96 The Court of Appeal also considered the various minor items of
evidence relied on by the team and referred to in para 92 above. They
considered that the judge had adopted too rigid a test in relation to some of
those matters, but, as the judge had not relied on them to justify his
conclusion, that aspect took matters no further.

The three lines of attack raised on bebalf of Mrs Braganza

97 Miss Belinda Bucknall QC, on behalf of Mrs Braganza, raised three
lines of argument in support of her contention that this court should set aside
the order of the Court of Appeal and restore Teare J’s order. First, she
contended that the Court of Appeal did not appear to have appreciated that
it should not have interfered with the judge’s conclusion, given that he was
the trial judge, who had heard the witnesses and reached a fact-sensitive
conclusion. In my view, that contention is not well founded, because it
confuses the judge’s role when he was deciding what in para 87 above I have
called the first claim, namely whether BP had been in breach of duty, with his
role when considering the second claim, namely whether BP’s opinion under
clause 7.6.3, based on the two reports, should be set aside. When ruling on
the first claim, the judge was indeed the primary finder of fact, and it would
only be if he had gone seriously wrong (e g if he had come to a conclusion
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which no reasonable judge could have come to, or made a demonstrable
error such as ignoring a significant relevant piece of evidence) on a factual
issue that an appeal court could properly have reversed his conclusion.
However, the position on the second claim was entirely different: far from
being the primary finder of fact, Teare ] was carrying out a reviewing
function of the two reports, prepared by the team, and it was the team, or
more precisely Mr Sullivan (who relied on the two reports in forming his
opinion), not the judge, who represented the primary finder of fact.

98 Miss Bucknall’s second line of attack was based on a number of
alleged errors in the two reports, which are briefly referred to in para 92
above. Although I agree with some of them, I do not accept all the criticisms
which were accepted by the judge. However, it is unnecessary to discuss this
aspect further, as I agree with the judge and the Court of Appeal that the
mistakes could not possibly justify challenging the conclusion reached in the
two reports. It appears to me to be fanciful to think that, if all of them had
been pointed out to the team and corrected, it could conceivably have resulted
in the team reaching any different conclusion from that which they did. Just
as minor errors in a full and careful judgment do not justify interfering with a
judgment, so it is with minor errors in a report which may have legal effect.
To hold otherwise would be wrong in principle, and it would serve to
encourage unmeritorious appeals and to discourage full, considered and
informative reports and judgments. Of course, different considerations apply
where the error of fact might well have affected the outcome.

99 The third line of attack raised by Miss Bucknall was very similar to
the judge’s reasoning for rejecting Mr Sullivan’s reliance on the two reports
as set out in para 94 of his judgment, namely that the basis for determining
that Mr Braganza committed suicide was too flimsy to justify such a
conclusion, at least by Mr Sullivan. That argument merits much fuller
consideration, but, before turning to consider it, it is convenient to address
the appropriate approach which the court should take to a contention such
as that raised by Mrs Braganza’s second claim.

The proper approach to Mr Sullivan’s opinion

100 Insome circumstances, it may be that the cause of an officer’s death
is very difficult to determine. In such a case, the exercise envisaged in
clause 7.6.3 does not require the person charged with carrying out the
inquiry to form an opinion. It is perfectly proper for that person to conclude
that he or she is unable to form an opinion as to the cause of the death in
question. Clause 7.6.3 provides for an exception to BP’s liability to pay
compensation under clause 7.3, and if it is impossible for the person who is
charged with forming an “opinion” under clause 7.6.3 to come to a
conclusion, then BP must pay the compensation.

101 A second point, which requires a little more exegesis, arises from
the fact that the person who is given the primary duty of determining the
cause of death under clause 7.6.3 is BP or its insurers (and for present
purposes one can ignore the reference to the insurers). If a provision such as
clause 7.6.3 does not specify how the issue is to be determined, it would be
for a judge to decide it as the primary fact-finder. Save where for some
reason BP cannot or refuses to consider the cause of death, the courts only
have a role to play once BP forms an opinion on the issue and an interested
party seeks to challenge the opinion—as happened in this case.
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102 There was some discussion as to the standard which the court
should expect of the decision-maker or opinion-former in such
circumstances. That question was fully considered by Rix L] in Socimer
International Bank Ltd v Standard Bank London Ltd [2008] Bus LR 1304,
paras 60—-66. He began by describing the issue as arising “When a contract
allocates only to one party a power to make decisions under the contract
which may have an effect on both parties”, and, after considering a number
of previous authorities, he concluded, at para 66:

“a decision-maker’s discretion will be limited, as a matter of necessary
implication, by concepts of honesty, good faith, and genuineness, and the
need for the absence of arbltrarmess, capriciousness, perversity and
irrationality. The concern is that the discretion should not be abused.
Reasonableness and unreasonableness are also concepts deployed in this
context, but only in a sense analogous to Wednesbury unreasonableness,
not in the sense in which that expression is used when speaking of the
duty to take reasonable care, or when otherwise deploying entirely
objective criteria: as for instance when there might be an implication of a
term requiring the fixing of a reasonable price, or a reasonable time . . .
Laws L] in the course of argument put the matter accurately. . . when he
said that pursuant to the Wednesbury rationality test, the decision
remains that of the decision-maker, whereas on entirely objective criteria
of reasonableness the decision-maker becomes the court itself.”

103 Like Baroness Hale DPSC, I consider that there is considerable
force in the notion that this approach is, and at any rate should be, the same
as the approach which domestic courts adopt to a decision of the executive,
as described in the judicial observations which she quotes in paras 23 and 24
above (as indeed is reflected by the reference to the Wednesbury decision in
the passage I have quoted from Rix LJ). I do not think that there is any
inconsistency of approach between Baroness Hale DPSC and Lord
Hodge JSC or myself in this connection.

104 However, a third point I should mention does concern a point of
difference between us. It is best expressed by reference to Lord Hodge JSC’s
statement that “contracts of employment . . . have specialties that do not
normally exist in commercial contracts”, which he discusses in paras 54-57.
It appears to me questionable whether the special implied mutual duty of
trust and confidence survived the death of Mr Braganza, but I accept that
there is a powerful case for contending that it did, at least for present
purposes. However, I do not think it necessary to decide the point, because
I fail to see how it assists Mrs Braganza’s case. Once it is accepted that BP
had to carry out the investigation with “honesty, good faith, and
genuineness” and had to avoid “arbitrariness, capriciousness, perversity and
irrationality”, I do not see what trust and confidence add. 1find it difficult to
accept that trust and confidence would require more than what in a normal
commercial context would be expected, either of BP when carrying out the
investigation, or of the court when scrutinising the investigation and its
results. Either the investigation was properly carried out or it was not, either
there was enough evidence to justify the conclusion reached by Mr Sullivan
or there was not, and either the reasoning which led to the conclusion was
defensible or it was not. Accordingly, as I see it, the duty of trust and
confidence is simply irrelevant to deciding that question.
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105 A fourth point is also worth mentioning. A court considering a
decision such as that reached in this case by the investigation team or by
Mr Sullivan should bear in mind the fact that it is performing a reviewing
function, and, as I have already mentioned, not an originating fact-finding
function. The court’s approach should therefore be similar to that of an
appellate court reviewing a trial judge’s decision. In this case, the team, and
then Mr Sullivan on behalf of BP, were entrusted with forming a view on a
point of fact, namely how Mr Braganza died. As Lord Hoffmann pointed
out in Biogen Inc v Medeva plc [1997] RPC 1, 45, albeit in connection with a
trial judge’s decision, this is “‘a kind of jury question’ . . . and should be
treated with appropriate respect by an appellate court”. And that is, in my
view, at least as true where the parties have agreed by whom the issue should
be determined.

106 Lord Hoffmann then explained:

“The need for appellate caution in reversing the trial judge’s evaluation
of the facts is . .. because specific findings of fact, even by the most
meticulous judge, are inherently an incomplete statement of the
impression which was made on him by the primary evidence.”

He continued:

“|the judge’s] expressed findings are always surrounded by a penumbra
of imprecision as to emphasis, relative weight, minor qualification and
nuance . . . of which time and language do not permit exact expression,
but which may play an important part in the judge’s overall valuation.”

I would add that (i) it cannot be right to expect a higher standard from
non-lawyer decision makers than from a judge, and (ii) the respect to be
shown to the decision-maker’s determination may often be greater when it is
that of a person or people with relevant expertise or experience than when it
is that of a judge.

Was the opinion that Mr Braganza committed suicide unreasonable?

107 One would have to be unusually stony-hearted not to hope that a
way could be found to ensure that, having suffered the terrible blow of losing
her husband, Mrs Braganza could be spared the additional blows of an
inquiry concludmg that he had killed himself and the deprivation of a death
in service benefit. However, it is the most fundamental duty of a ]udge to
apply the law, even if it sometimes leads to hard consequences in the
circumstances of a particular case.

108 In my view, the position in this case is, in summary, as follows. As
the first report made clear (see para 77 above), BP appointed a team of
experienced people from different disciplines specifically to form a view as to
how Mr Braganza had died, the team carried out what appears to have been
a very thorough investigation (see para 78 above) and produced a full and
meticulous report in which they expressed themselves in moderate and
considered terms, and in which they concluded that, while Mr Braganza
could have suffered an accident, that was very unlikely, and that the
probable cause of his death was suicide (see paras 79—-81 above). They
then carefully reconsidered that conclusion following a request from
Mrs Braganza and, sadly for her, confirmed it in a further carefully
considered report (paras 83-85 above). When Mr Sullivan was instructed
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by BP to consider the cause of Mr Braganza’s death for the purpose of
clause 7, it was entirely reasonable for him, in the light of that background,
to consider the first report and adopt its conclusions, and, when the first
report was challenged, to readdress the matter and to consider the second
report and adopt its conclusions.

109 However, it is said that Mr Sullivan’s opinion is flawed because of a
combination of factors. When analysed, it appears to me that those factors
may be summarised as follows. (a) It was inappropriate for Mr Sullivan
simply to rely on the reports, as they were prepared for a different purpose.
(b) A finding that a person committed suicide amounts to an inherently
improbable, serious or damaging conclusion which required more cogent
evidence than was available. (c) Mr Braganza exhibited no signs that he was
depressed or had suicidal intentions during the 24 or 36 hours prior to his
death. (d) The consequence of Mr Sullivan concluding that Mr Braganza’s
death was caused by suicide was so severe, namely, the loss of a death in
service benefit, that it was not justified on the evidence. (e) Mr Sullivan
ought at least have directed himself as to the inherent unlikelihood of
Mr Braganza having committed suicide. (f) The investigation team, and
therefore Mr Sullivan, failed to take into account the fact that Mr Braganza
had good reason to go on deck in the early morning. (g) Mr Sullivan’s failure
to ask Mrs Braganza about the e-mails impugned his opinion. I shall take
those arguments in turn.

110 As to argument (a), it was, in my view, neither unreasonable nor
inappropriate for Mr Sullivan, when forming his opinion for the purposes of
clause 7.3, to adopt the conclusion reached in a carefully considered report
prepared by a group, such as the investigation team, on behalf of BP. Tam
unpersuaded by the argument that the team was concerned with a different
issue from Mr Sullivan. The team was specifically instructed to investigate
the “relevant circumstances” and “root causes” of Mr Braganza’s
disappearance, and they clearly could only conclude that it was suicide if
that was, in their view, the likely cause, ie on the balance of probabilities,
after fairly considering all the evidence. Precisely the same applies to the
forming of Mr Sullivan’s opinion as to the cause of Mr Braganza’s death.
Further, the fact that the team was investigating the issue for a purpose
different from Mr Sullivan is nothing to the point. Even if one assumes
(which T do not accept) that the sole purpose of the team was to make
recommendations as to what steps should be taken by BP to improve safety
on board their vessels, it was still essential for them to assess, if they could,
just how Mr Braganza had died.

111 If the team had concluded in their report that Mr Braganza had
fallen overboard as a result of an accident or that it was impossible to say
how Mr Braganza had died, it could not seriously be suggested that
Mr Sullivan could not have adopted that conclusion. Indeed, to many
people, it would have been a little surprising if, in the absence of new facts
not known to the team or plain error on the part of the team, Mr Sullivan
had reached a different view from that taken by the team. Of course,
Mr Sullivan was not entitled unthinkingly to adopt the view of the team: he
had to form his own opinion. However, once he was satisfied that the team
had conducted a very thorough investigation, and had carefully considered
all the evidence and had reached a conclusion with which he considered that
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he agreed, it would in my view be little short of absurd to hold that he was
none the less obliged in law to carry out his own separate investigation.

112 Astoargument (b) in para 109, support for the proposition that the
more serious the allegation, the more cogent the evidence required to prove
it can be found in the opinion of Lord Nicholls of Birkenhead in In re
H (Minors) (Sexual Abuse: Standard of Proof) [1996] AC 563. Atp 586, he
said “the more serious the allegation the less likely it is that the event
occurred and, hence, the stronger should be the evidence”. However, that
point also can only be taken so far, as Lord Hoffmann and Baroness Hale of
Richmond each said in I re B (Children) (Care Proceedings: Standard of
Proof) (CAFCASS intervening) [2009] 1 AC 11, paras 1-15 and 64-70
respectively. As Baroness Hale pointed out in para 72, “there is no logical or
necessary connection between seriousness and probability”. She then said
that “serious allegations [are not] made in a vacuum”, and went on to give
examples of statements which might seem intrinsically unlikely if made
without a particular context, but appear quite likely if made in the context of
certain assumed facts. In the end, the decision-maker has to come to a
conclusion on the particular facts of the case.

113 The point is also apparent from the opinion of Lord Carswell (with
whom the other members of the committee agreed) in In re D (Secretary of
State for Northern Ireland intervening) [2008] 1 WLR 1499. At para 29, he
said, in connection with the serious finding in civil family proceedings that
an adult had been guilty of very serious sexual assaults on young girls: “The
panel had to be satisfied on the balance of probabilities that he was, but it
did not follow that specially cogent evidence was required.” In reaching that
decision, the House of Lords accepted the appellant panel’s argument
identified at para 22 that the court below was wrong to say that “the “flexible
approach to the civil standard of proof’ required ‘more cogent evidence than
would be conventionally required” and that ‘a more compelling quality of
evidence’ was needed”.

114 In the present case, it seems to me clear that there was a
combination of reasons which can fairly be said to be sufficiently cogent to
justify Mr Sullivan’s opinion, based on the two reports, that Mr Braganza
had taken the unusual and tragic course of committing suicide. First, this is a
case where it is clear that Mr Braganza died at sea, and the only two
plausible possible causes (as the judge and the team both considered) were
accident or suicide. So this is not a case where the issue is whether an
unlikely event occurred: the issue is how an unlikely event, which
undoubtedly occurred, was actually caused.

115 Secondly, when one turns to consider that issue, it is clear that there
were various factors which either concerned, or could well have concerned,
Mr Braganza. In particular, the e-mails from his wife strongly suggest that
he was depressed about his financial affairs and that he was oppressed by the
vessel’s state of repair (paras 73 and 74 above). Furthermore, he could well
have been upset by the withdrawal of his bonus (especially if he had money
problems) (para 71), and by the criticism of his supervision of the works at
Ferrol (para 70). It does seem pretty clear from the e-mails from his wife
that, to a significant degree, he let at least some of these matters cause him
serious concern. Although there was evidence that he was on good form in
the 36 hours immediately before his disappearance, there were a number of
comments about his uncharacteristically moody state for most of the three
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weeks he was on board British Unity: see paras 69 and 70 above. And there
is the curious fact that he did not make entries as he should have done in the
order book: see para 72 above.

116 Thirdly, the only serious alternative to suicide, as both the judge
and the team separately concluded, was an accident, and for the reasons
summarised in paras 8o and 83-84 above, that would seem to have been
very unlikely. The weather was relatively calm, Mr Braganza was very
safety-conscious, he was unlikely to have gone on deck without warning
someone, he had no reason to go on deck, the vessel was very well protected,
and nobody in the BP fleet had ever fallen overboard from this class of vessel.
On the team’s analysis, it was, at least in my view, plainly open to them, and
therefore to Mr Sullivan, to conclude that suicide was more likely than an
accident.

117 Of course, as already mentioned, it was open to the team to
conclude (as the judge did) that it was not possible to reach a conclusion as
to how Mr Braganza had died. However, that is not at all the same thing as
saying that this was the only conclusion that the team could have reached. If
the team or Mr Sullivan had proceeded on the basis that they were bound to
come to a conclusion as to how Mr Braganza had died, or if they had arrived
at their conclusion by a process of simply eliminating all other possible
causes, they would have been guilty of an error of law which would, I think,
have vitiated the conclusion which the team reached. However, that is not
how they approached the issue: on the contrary—see paras 85 and 86 above.

118 Argument (c) in para 109 above is that there was no evidence of
depression or suicidal behaviour in the day or two before Mr Braganza’s
disappearance. In the first place, there was evidence to support the
possibility of suicide as already discussed. Quite apart from that, we do not,
alas, need expert evidence to tell us that many suicides occur “out of the
blue” so far as loving relatives are concerned. The very fact that some
suicides occur at all is attributable to the fact that there are no signs that it
will happen. Of course, a number of suicides are preceded by aberrant
behaviour or warnings, but I am quite unpersuaded that the absence of any
such matters is of much significance.

119 As to argument (d), namely the consequence of Mr Sullivan’s
forming the opinion that the Mr Braganza killed himself was so great that
the decision-making process was flawed, of course, cogent evidence was
needed: it always is. And, as the House of Lords has emphasised in a number
of different cases, apart from the criminal standard of proof, there is but one
standard of proof, namely on the balance of probabilities, ie more likely
than not—see what Lord Nicholls said in In re H [1996] AC 563, 586,
affirmed and explained by Lord Hoffmann and Baroness Hale in In re B
[2009] 1 AC 11, paras 13 and 68—70 respectively, and applied by Lord
Carswellin Inre D [2008] 1 WLR 1499, para 28.

120 Taccept that it may be right to take into account the seriousness of
the consequences of a particular finding when deciding whether the evidence
justified it, but, as Lord Carswell explained in In re D, at para 28: “The
seriousness of consequences is another facet of the . . . [the seriousness of the
allegation].” In other words, in this case it is illogical to suggest that,
because Mr Sullivan’s opinion, unlike the decision of the team, would result
in Mrs Braganza not receiving the death in service benefit, he should have
been more reluctant than the team to conclude that Mr Braganza had
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committed suicide. The only relevance that the non-receipt of the benefit
could have had to Mr Sullivan’s opinion would be that, because the benefit
would be lost if Mr Braganza committed suicide, it could be said to render it
less likely that he would have done so. However, that applies equally to the
team’s decision.

121 As to argument (e) in para 109 above, I do not think that it would
be appropriate to hold it against either the team or Mr Sullivan that they did
not expressly say that it is inherently unlikely that a person would commit
suicide. There was evidence that could support the notion that Mr Braganza
was in an unhappy state emotionally, and the only alternative to suicide was
an accident, which the team re]ected as very unlikely indeed. Particularly in
those circumstances, it would, in my view, involve setting an unrealistically,
and therefore an undesmably, high standard on investigators or writers of
reports, whose investigations and reports are intended to have legal effect, to
hold that the investigator or writer had to mention in terms that suicide was
inherently unlikely.

122 Even if the reports had been judgments, I very much doubt that they
could have been fairly criticised for failing expressly to say that suicide is an
inherently unlikely act. However, even if that is wrong, any such criticism is
impossible to sustain in connection with the reports. As Mocatta ] said in
The Vainqueur José [1979] 1 Lloyd’s Rep 557, 577:

“Where, as here, the success or failure of a claim depends on the
exercise of a discretion by a lay body, it would be a mistake to expect
the same expert, professional and almost microscopic investigation of the
problems, both factual and legal, that is demanded of a suit in a court of
law.”

123 So far as argument (f) in para 109 is concerned, Miss Bucknall, in
the course of her submissions, emphasised on a number of occasions that
Mr Braganza could have gone on deck in daylight to check the weather. This
echoes the judge’s observation [2012] EWHC 1423 (Comm) at [96] that the
team:

“and hence Mr Sullivan, failed to take into account the real possibility
that Mr Braganza went out onto deck in order to check the weather to see
whether it was safe to carry out the planned work.”

However, the simple answer to that contention is that (i) in the first report,
the team simply thought that an accident was very unlikely for the reasons
they gave, even if Mr Braganza had gone on deck, and (ii) in the second
report, the team reconsidered the possibility of an accident and rejected it as
very unlikely, because (a) Mr Braganza would probably not have checked
the weather, (b) if he had gone on deck to do so he would have told the
officer of the watch, and (¢) perhaps most importantly, because the
possibility of his falling overboard by accident was very unlikely indeed—see
paras 8o and 83-84 above.

124 Nor would I'accept that argument (f) in para 109 above provides a
good reason for doubting Mr Sullivan’s opinion, namely that he did not ask
Mrs Braganza about the e-mails before forming his opinion. If, as the judge
found, the team was entitled to assume that Mrs Braganza had had the
opportunity to make representations about the e-mails to them once she got
the first report, then Mr Sullivan was equally entitled to make that
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assumption. Indeed, she was free to make any points which she wanted, and
apparently did so in her note of May 2009, which was referred to in the
second report (para 83 above). Mr Sullivan knew that she had complained
about the first report, as it was her complaint which resulted in the second
report, and, having read the second report, he knew that she had been free to
make any point she wanted to the team.

125 Inany event, although Mr Sullivan referred in his witness statement
to the fact that he had not thought it appropriate to approach Mrs Braganza
about the e-mails, he was not cross-examined about this. It is therefore
difficult to see how he could be criticised on this ground. Quite apart from
this, Mrs Braganza gave evidence before Teare J that her husband “was not
happy because their money was running out”, they “had sold everything”,
that “life [was] tough in Toronto”, and that Mr Braganza “was frightened”:
para 17. Although the judge rejected BP’s case that this evidence
understated Mrs Braganza’s degree of concern, it does not seem to me that
such evidence would have undermined a conclusion that he had killed
himself: it confirms what is plain from the e-mails.

126 In my view, in the light of the discussion in paras 107-125 above, it
is not fairly open to a court to decide that the conclusion reached by the team
in the first and second reports, and therefore the opinion formed by
Mr Sullivan, fell foul of the test laid down by Rix L] in the passage cited in
para 102 above. In my view, neither the conclusion reached by the team nor
the consequential opinion formed by Mr Sullivan can be characterised as
“arbitrar[y], capricious, pervers[e] [or] irrational”, to use Rix L]’s words in
Socimer International Bank Ltd v Standard Bank Ltd [2008] Bus LR 1304,
para 66. The two reports are, as I have indicated, impressive both in the
extent of the investigations on which they were based and the care with
which they were compiled, and the conclusion they reached was carefully
and rationally explained, and Mr Sullivan cannot be criticised for relying on
them.

Conclusion
127 Iwould accordingly dismiss this appeal.

Appeal allowed.

CoLIN BERESFORD, Barrister
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